THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000804

John Doe,Appellant,

v.

Bishop of Charleston, a Corporation Sole, and The Bishop
of the Diocese of Charleston, in his official capacity,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Lawrence E. Richter, Jr. (SC Bar No. 4724)
Anna E. Richter (SC Bar No. 100787)
THE RICHTER FIRM, LLC
622 Johnnie Dodds Blvd.
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 849-6000
LRichter@RichterFirm.com
Anna@RichterFirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in its order entered on January 9, 2020 in granting the Respondents' summary judgment motion based on the doctrine of charitable immunity when Doe's Complaint stated causes of action based on child sexual abuse for outrage, negligence/gross negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraudulent concealment, civil conspiracy, negligent retention or supervision, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act?

- II. Did the Circuit Court err in its order entered on May 11, 2020 in denying Doe's Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the Court's January 9, 2020 order?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant John Doe (Doe) filed an Amended Complaint in the Charleston County Circuit Court on August 29, 2018. (R. pp. 58-124). As alleged in his Amended Complaint, Doe was born in 1957 and as a child around the ages of 12 to 14 (*i.e.*, around 1969 to 1971) he was sexually molested by Chris Hartnett and Hal Brooks, two teachers at Sacred Heart Catholic School, a parochial school operated by the Defendants-Respondents (Church). Doe further alleged that the Church had encouraged him to trust, revere, obey, and confide in his teacher Hartnett and another Sacred Heart School teacher Brooks, both abusers of Doe, and that the Church not only knew or should have known of the sexual abuse but also tried to conceal it. Doe alleged further that his memory of these events had been repressed and he learned of the abuse and of the causal relationship between his injuries and the sexual abuse, the Church's knowledge of the abuse, and the Church's concealment of the abuse only within the past two years before filing. Based on these and other facts, Doe asserted claims for relief based on sexual abuse, and claimed outrage, negligence/gross negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraudulent concealment, civil conspiracy, negligent retention or supervision, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act. (R. pp. 58-124)

In response to the Amended Complaint, the Church filed a series of motions, several of which resulted in orders adverse to the Church, and from which the Church has attempted to pursue interlocutory appeals. Among the motions filed by the Church are a motion to dismiss; a motion to strike portions of the Amended Complaint; a motion to stay discovery; a motion for protective order concerning discovery; a motion for partial summary judgment as to "The Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston, in his official capacity"; a motion to disqualify Doe's counsel; a motion for

summary judgment as to all claims based upon the common law doctrine of charitable immunity (R. pp. 1324-1377); a motion for summary judgment as to all claims based upon the statute of limitations/lack of admissible evidence of repressed memory (R. pp. 1378-1383); a motion for summary judgment based upon *res judicata* effect of a 2007 class action settlement (R. pp. 1384-1487); a motion for summary judgment regarding Doe's negligence, negligent retention, negligent supervision and outrage/intentional infliction of emotion distress claims; a motion for summary judgment regarding Doe's claim of conspiracy; a motion for summary judgment regarding Doe's fraud-based and contract claims; and a motion for summary judgment as to Doe's claim for breach of fiduciary duty.

After hearing three of the Church's summary judgment motions on December 12, 2019, the trial Court required counsel for both sides to submit proposed orders, which was done. (R. pp. 1714-1733) On January 9, 2020 the hearing judge issued the order proposed by Defendants-Respondents (Church) granting them summary judgment based solely upon the doctrine of charitable immunity.¹ (R. pp. 46-54)

1 Transcript of Record from 2/18/20 hearing P8, L9-20 (R. p. 1220, lines 9-20)

THE COURT: I read it, which I told you to submit an order solely on –

MR. DUKES: On charitable immunity.

THE COURT: Correct. I didn't care about anything about repressed memory. I didn't have anything to do with anything – I wasn't even considering that, even though I read them. But that's why I ordered the orders to be specific, solely to that issue, because you made a motion for summary judgment on, I think, about seven different –

MR. DUKES: Seven or eight.

THE COURT: Yeah, seven or eight different causes. And I said I wanted on just that one.

The Church filed no Rule 59(e) motion seeking additional rulings on its other motions for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations/lack of admissible evidence of repressed memory syndrome and on the *res judicata* effect of a 2007 class action settlement.

On January 16, 2020, Doe filed his Rule 59(e) motion, requesting the Circuit Court to alter or amend its January 9, 2020 order by vacating the aforesaid order and entering an order in the form which was attached as Exhibit A thereto. (R. pp. 1734-1748) Doe's motion was heard on February 18, 2020 and on April 6, 2020. (R. pp. 1213-1276)

On May 11, 2020, the Circuit Court entered its order denying Doe's Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the Court's January 9, 2020 order (R. pp. 55-57), from which denial Doe has also taken this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The gravamen of Doe's claim is that as a young grammar school student at Sacred Heart School, of the Diocese of Charleston, he was molested by teachers in the fall of 1970.² Doe was visited at his home by his teacher Chris Hartnett who spoke with Doe and Doe's parents and received their parental permission to take Doe to an event in the Columbia area. Hartnett

**2 Transcript of John Doe's deposition (R. pp. 344-501)
P108, L13 – P109, L9 (R. p. 451, line 13-p. 452, line 9)**

BY MR. DUKES: Chris Hartnett was your homeroom teacher when you were in the seventh grade, right?

DOE: Sixth. Pretty sure it's the sixth. Or at least the last half – the latter of the sixth. I don't have a vivid knowledge of been going there a whole year, whether it had been one year or the next year or for a year and then part of the next year. I can't remember that. You'd have to get school records for that one.

DUKES: Yes, I've got them, and I'll show you.

DOE: Okay.

DUKES: It jumps around on you but in 1969 and 1970 you had a lady who taught you in the sixth grade.

DOE: Okay.

DUKES: And then 1970, 1971, Chris Hartnett was your seventh grade teacher.

P118, L7-10 (R. p. 461, lines 7-10)

DUKES: What time of year did this party take place?

DOE: Somewhere in the fall. I'm sure of that.

subsequently transported Doe alone in his vehicle, not to any learning related event³, but rather to a private residence where a party was being conducted and where a second teacher from Sacred Heart School was present. Doe was the only child at the gathering and was given alcohol and marijuana and was subsequently sodomized, anally raped, by the two teachers.

Doe had been taught to revere, respect, trust, confide in, and adhere to the directives of his teachers and clergy, priests, and also nuns of the Roman Catholic Diocese of Charleston. He was taught that persons of authority were to be obeyed, and their directives complied with.

Doe described the location of the party as being off Gervais Street in a private residence. After that event, Doe was taken by Hartnett and Brooks to what seems to have been a bar, perhaps catering to homosexuals, where he was given to a bar patron who displayed a desire for sexual favor by embracing and kissing young Doe.

Doe's seventh grade report card, academic year September 1970 – May 1971, was relied upon by the Church as establishing the fact of him being Hartnett's student and also the general time of the molestation. Doe's deposition testimony, relied upon in the motion hearing first by counsel for Defendants-Respondents and subsequently by counsel for Appellant, all without objection and all allowed by the circuit court judge presiding.

From the 12/12/19 Summary Judgment Hearing (R. pp. 1129-1212)

P18, L20-25 (R. p. 1146, lines 20-25)

MR. DUKES: ...In fact, the Plaintiff testified about – because I asked him, “Do you think

3 Transcript of John Doe's deposition (R. pp. 344-501)
P115, L3 – 7 (R. p. 458, lines 3-7)

DUKES: How did this trip to Columbia come about?

DOE: Well, he said we were going up there to see a museum or something and ended up at a friend of his house and Brooks was there.

anybody intended for Hartnett and Brooks to harm you?” And he said, “My heart says no. I’ve never known any bad, bad people in the church. But I would rather not had to remember this and sit here and talk about it like that.”

P43, L17-21 (R. p. 1171, lines 17-21)

MR. RICHTER: In any event, the idea that there are no issues of contested fact simply escapes me. And I represent to Your Honor we adopt all of the depositions, all of the written discovery, we rely on all of that as part of our – our argument here.

P50, L12-16 (R. p. 1178, lines 12-16)

MR. RICHTER: I would like to incorporate all of the depositions that have been taken in these cases as part of – as part of our records in support of our argument that, again, all the authorities that you’ll read talk about the use of those in all the pleadings in the matter.

From the 4/6/20 59(e) Hearing (R. pp. 1226-1276)

P11, L20-25 (R. p. 1236, lines 20-25)

MR. RICHTER: ...Mr. Dukes on multiple occasions quoted to you and argued... from the depositions of the plaintiffs’ various witnesses, a couple of experts, plus the plaintiff himself. Now, that is what happened.

P12, L3-13; L16-20 (R. p. 1237, lines 3-13; R. p. 1237, lines 16-20)

MR. RICHTER: Mr. Dukes says to you, in fact, the plaintiff testified, because I asked him, do you think anybody intended for Hartman [Hartnett] and Brooks to harm you?

And he said, quote, my heart says no. I’ve never known any bad, bad people in the church, but I would rather not be here to remember this and sit here and talk about it like that.

Mr. Dukes goes on and says, but he said he doesn't have any evidence that anybody intended for him to be harmed.

But that happens later on as well as to two other witnesses, Dr. Duffy, who is a psychologist, and the lady Ms. Wayland [Whalen], who the dioceses sent John Doe to for treatment – diagnosis and treatment.

P12, L25 – P13, L11 (R. p. 1237, line 25 – p. 1238, line 11)

MR. RICHTER: ...we incorporate into the record and rely on – did it twice actually in the hearing, and I would be glad to quote from the transcript to show you where that exists. But we did it twice and did so without objection.

Now, I didn't object to Mr. Dukes relying on deposition testimony because I thought he might – that I might want to rely on deposition testimony, and I did. And he did it; Your Honor allowed him to do it. We incorporated it; he didn't object in any way whatsoever.

P13, L19-22 (R. p. 1238, lines 19-22)

MR. RICHTER: ...you let it in for the defense and so we took the very same tact and we're entitled to be treated the very same way the defense was in that regard.

P24, L20-P25, L4; P25, L6-13 (R. p. 1249, line 20 – p. 1250, line 4; R. p. 1250, lines 6-13)

MR. RICHTER: ...all of the depositions, and I'll show you in the record where I specifically said that I incorporate all of the discovery and depositions, filings, whatever, in all of these cases, the three subject cases specifically said that in the record to you without any – without any objection.

On page 43, I represent to Your Honor we adopt all of the depositions, all of the written

discovery; we rely on all of that as part of our argument here.

And then again at another page, page 50, I again state, I would like to incorporate all of the depositions that have been taken in these cases, these plural cases, as part of our record in support of our argument that this is at the actual argument of the motion itself, and all of the pleadings, as I say, specifically in these cases.

Ultimately, Doe was abandoned at the bar in Columbia, got away from it, and finally hitchhiked back to Charleston and his home.

Doe's is a case of repressed memory or dissociative amnesia, which doctrine is recognized in South Carolina. See *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 334 S.C. 150, 511 S.E.2d 699 (Ct.App.1999) and *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000).

The Defendants-Respondents do not admit the facts upon which Doe relies (R. pp. 125-135); but most particularly they claim entitlement to absolute immunity under the doctrine of charitable immunity.

When the summary judgment motion was called for hearing, Doe, Appellant, asked that the matter not be heard on summary judgment yet since it was a dispositive motion and we had only been given heavily redacted documents by the Diocese. The judge insisted we go forward, so forward we went; and we asked for equal treatment. The Movant (the Church) relied upon the depositions of the Plaintiff and of two expert witnesses. When it was Doe's time to respond in opposition to the motion for summary judgment, Doe also relied upon and adopted in full Doe's deposition and those of the other deponents, as well as all of the documents that had been

produced, though heavily redacted, in the case, as well as the entire record theretofore made.

There was no objection to any of such use and the following are the references from the hearing transcripts.

From the 4/6/20 59(e) Hearing (R. pp. 1226-1276)

P7, L22 – P8, L4; P8, L11- P9, L6 (R. p. 1232, line 22-p. 1233, line 4; R. p. 1233, line 11-p. 1234, line 6)

THE COURT: I just want you to argue the motion to reconsider based on the order that I signed as to charitable immunity. Okay?

MR. RICHTER: Yes, sir. Based on the order that you signed to charitable immunity, we could not receive a fair hearing in the matter because, in part, of the lack of discovery responses which Your Honor had ordered....

...you ordered that it come to us unredacted.

Now, why might that matter? Because the motion that you made us go forward in and defend, a motion for summary judgment is a dispositive motion. And to do that, fundamental fairness requires that we have the benefit of the fullest ability to defend against the dispositive motion.

Part of the way we do that is by developing the case. We learn who witnesses are. We learn what writings exist. We learn all of those kinds of things, and then we have those available to us to utilize.

But in this case, although this was not the first motion filed, Mr. Dukes was very anxious to get to a summary judgment motion, a dispositive motion, with the case in its current posture. That means with us in our current posture of ability to develop the case, including factual issues, and

with our ability to defend thereby such a motion.

P14, L18 – P15, L2 (R. p. 1239, line 18-p. 1240, line 2)

MR. RICHTER: So from September of '18 to May of '19, we were trying to get answers. Part of this came before you. Again, I don't mean to go over plowed ground. Then they supplemented in August of '19, and in September and in October of '19 they supplemented.

Now, when they did that, they ignored the rules. Rule 33 specifically requires that the person answering the interrogatories must do so under oath and sign them.

P16, L20-P17, L1 (R. p. 1241, line 20-p. 1242, line 1)

MR. RICHTER: Part of what he said is summary judgment would abate the need to rule on any of these motions if Your Honor were to grant any of them. That's the reason we were asking to be heard on all of the discovery matters so that we could have whatever we're going to have to have the ability to defend ourselves fully.

P17, L15-22 (R. p. 1242, lines 15-22)

THE COURT: So what's your position as to that, Mr. Richter? That I didn't allow you to hear the discovery motions and therefore not be able to fully, I guess, uncover all of the discovery and summary judgment was too premature? Is that your argument.

MR. RICHTER: Yes. That's part of the argument, Your Honor, but it's more than that.

P23, L3-6; P23, L17-18; L20-24 (R. p. 1248, lines 3-6; R. p. 1248, lines 17-18; R. p. 1248, lines 20-24)

MR. RICHTER: And in that letter, among other things she says, other pertinent information include...
...that two other boys were abused by these same

teachers. Their names are blank and blank.

...Point being that
wasn't produced to us....

I'm arguing that we were entitled to these things
and we didn't get them.

I would have, of course, interviewed
those two people upon finding who they were, and I
will when I find out who they are.

P24, L6-8; L10-13 (R. p. 1249, lines 6-8; R. p. 1249, lines 10-13)

MR. RICHTER: ...this is simply another example of why
going forward when we asked not to go forward was
prejudicial to us.
...It's a
diocese document that they didn't produce to us.
It's an important document that they didn't produce
to us.

The Louisa Storen email of June 15, 2016 contained, redacted, the names of two other
young victims of the same rapist teachers. Defendants-Respondents hid this witness information
from Plaintiff-Appellant Doe.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court may properly grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any,
show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to
a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Summary judgment is not appropriate when
further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Tupper
v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997). Summary judgment should not be
granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion

to be drawn from those facts. *Id.* In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Manning v. Quinn*, 294 S.C. 383, 365 S.E.2d 24 (1988). An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC. *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 501 S.E.2d 746 (Ct.App.1998). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to appellant, the nonmoving party below. *Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co.*, 267 S.C. 607, 230 S.E.2d 447 (1976).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS ORDER ENTERED ON JANUARY 9, 2020 IN GRANTING THE RESPONDENTS' SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF CHARITABLE IMMUNITY WHEN DOE'S COMPLAINT STATED CAUSES OF ACTION BASED ON CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE FOR OUTRAGE, NEGLIGENCE/GROSS NEGLIGENCE, BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY, INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS, FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT, CIVIL CONSPIRACY, NEGLIGENT RETENTION OR SUPERVISION, BREACH OF CONTRACT, AND BREACH OF CONTRACT ACCOMPANIED BY A FRAUDULENT ACT.

The foregoing Standard of Review is a typical recitation as relates to summary judgment. Here, however, the issue is one of just what the state and scope of the law of charitable immunity was in South Carolina at the relevant time, the time of Doe's injury, when his right of action accrued. We are fortunate to have clear, controlling answers from a unanimous Supreme Court opinion issued in the case of *Jeffcoat v. Caine*, 261 S.C. 75, 198 S.E.2d 258 (1973), in which the claimant's injury was endured virtually at the same time. Both *Jeffcoat* and *Doe* arose out of non-

negligent acts, intentional torts, by charities which claimed to be absolutely immune. Our Supreme Court found otherwise.

As noted above, the Circuit Court granted the Church summary judgment as to all claims in Doe's Amended Complaint solely on the grounds of the doctrine of charitable immunity. The Church's charitable immunity argument is summed up in the following paragraph of its motion for summary judgment:

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