THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000804

John Doe,.....Appellant,

v.

Bishop of Charleston, a Corporation Sole, and
The Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston, in his
official capacity,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Richard S. Dukes, Jr. (SC Bar No.: 16563)
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843-576-2810
Facsimile: 843-577-1646 (direct fax)
Email: RDukes@turnerpadget.com

R. Hawthorne Barrett (SC Bar No.:16973)
P.O. Box 1473
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone: 803-227-4219
Email: TBarrett@turnerpadget.com

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

In the present case, Appellant's own allegations and testimony establish that his alleged abuse could only have taken place sometime during the 1970-71 school year. One of the accused, Hal Brooks, testifies in his affidavit that he only taught at Sacred Heart School until December,

³⁵ See *Hupman v. Erskine College*, 281 S.C. 43, 44, 314 S.E.2d 314, 315 (1984), *Hasell v. Medical Society of S.C.* 288 S.C. 318, 342 S.E. 594, 595 (1986) see also *Brown v. Anderson Cty. Hosp.*, 268 S.C. 479, 234 S.E.2d 873 (S.C. 1977) (modifying charitable immunity as to hospitals only to render them liable for heedless and reckless acts and prospectively only).

³⁶ See *Laughridge v. Parkinson*, 304 S.C. 51, 403 S.E.2d 120, 120 (1991) (holding that charitable immunity law in existence at the time of tortious conduct in 1979 must be applied).

³⁷ 273 S.C. 716, 259 S.E.2d 117 (S.C. 1979).

³⁸ *Douglass v. Florence Gen'l Hosp.*, 273 S.C. 716, 720, 259 S.E.2d 117, 118.

1970.³⁹ Therefore, the alleged abuse, which Brooks denies, would have taken place when common law charitable immunity was absolute. – As a result, the Diocese is completely immune from suit, and the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment.⁴⁰

As previously noted, what matters for purposes of the present appeal is the law of charitable immunity as it existed in 1970-1971. At that time, *Jeffcoat* had not been decided, and prior to *Jeffcoat*, the Supreme Court had never held that charitable organizations could be liable for intentional torts such as false imprisonment. To the contrary, the Court had always granted sweeping tort immunity to charities before the erosion process started in *Jeffcoat* in 1973. Thus, Appellant's argument that *Jeffcoat* represents the state of the law when his alleged abuse occurred is clearly erroneous. Had that alleged abuse taken place on or after the date of the *Jeffcoat* opinion, Appellant's position might have merit. But as things stand, *Jeffcoat* was not the law of South Carolina in the years relevant to the present case. *Jeffcoat* altered the common law in a manner that created liability where none had previously existed. Accordingly, *Jeffcoat* only affected future claims, and it is irrelevant to this appeal.

³⁹ See Affidavit of Hal Brooks submitted with the Diocese's motions for summary judgment (R. pp. 981-983).

⁴⁰ The Diocese is, and has been, a charity entitled to common law charitable immunity, which was the established law at the time of any alleged tort. It is without question that both South Carolina and federal authorities have long determined the Diocese to be a charitable institution. South Carolina law does not permit the courts of this state to substitute its judgment for the judgment of an agency. Unlike the legislatively created limitation on liability for charities, immunity from suit is *not* an issue to be applied after a jury verdict. Rather, pre-1981 charitable immunity shields charities from this suit altogether.

Yet, even if Appellant were correct, and *Jeffcoat*'s exception for intentional torts applies, the Circuit Court's decision is still correct because Appellant has not presented evidence sufficient to support the one and only intentional tort he alleges, *i.e.* outrage and intentional infliction of emotional distress. The record before the Circuit Court was bereft of any evidence that the Diocese intended harm toward Appellant or that the Diocese engaged in any egregious, extreme, or outrageous conduct whatsoever.⁴¹

II. As independent sustaining grounds, the Circuit Court could properly have granted summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations or based upon the *res judicata* effect of the 2007 class action.

A respondent "may raise on appeal additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled upon by the lower court."⁴² In the present case, Respondent presented additional summary judgment grounds to the Circuit Court. Due to the decision on the charitable immunity issue, the court found it unnecessary to reach those additional grounds. Yet, even if this Court were to disagree with the Circuit Court on charitable immunity, Respondent's other issues serve as sufficient additional sustaining grounds to support the summary judgment granted below.

a. Respondent was also entitled to summary judgment based on the Statute of Limitations / Lack of Admissible Evidence regarding Repressed Memory Syndrome.

⁴¹ Respondent moved for summary judgment on Appellant's claim of Outrage/Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, pointing out that there was no evidence to support the essential elements of the claim. The record contains nothing in opposition to that motion.

⁴² *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 330 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

Respondent moved for summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations (R. pp. 843-848). Appellant claims to have been molested at age 14 in 1970. Appellant further claimed that “his memory was repressed” and later recovered as a result of other litigation, news reports and other circumstances. (R. p. 64, ¶ 16).

Both the South Carolina Supreme Court and this Court have expressed deep concerns regarding so-called “repressed memory syndrome” in their respective decisions in *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*.⁴³ As both courts acknowledged twenty years ago, the theory of repressed memory syndrome was controversial among psychiatrists and psychologists. According to the Supreme Court, there was, even then, no consensus among the psychological, medical, and legal communities regarding the validity of the theory of repressed memory.⁴⁴ Both courts likewise acknowledged “the horrific possibility of false accusations” and acknowledged that corroborating evidence is required because of “the disagreement among the psychological and medical communities about the validity of repressed memory syndrome, the danger a plaintiff’s memories could be faked or implanted during therapy, and the desire that a plaintiff not have the ability to control the running of the statute of limitations solely by allegations whose only support is contained within the plaintiff’s mind.”⁴⁵ Because of these concerns, the Supreme Court requires

⁴³ *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 334 S.C. 150, 511 S.E.2d 699 (Ct. App. 1999); *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (S.C. 2000).

⁴⁴ *Moriarty*, 341 S.C. . at 331 534 S.E.2d at 677.

⁴⁵ *Moriarty*, 534 S.E.2d at 680 citing *Roe v. Doe*, 28 F.3d 404, 408-409 (suggesting that corroborative evidence of abuse and repressed memory should be required) (Hall, J., concurring); *Olsen v. Hooley*, 865 P.2d 1345, 1349-50 (Utah 1993) (requiring corroborating evidence because of concerns about the reliability of memory in general and revived memories in particular, and the difficulty of defending against claims of revived memories of sexual abuse long past); *S.V. v. R.V.*, 933 S.W.2d 1, 7-15 (discovery rule applies in repressed memory case only when claim is “inherently undiscoverable” and “objectively verifiable” through corroborating evidence; court

that a plaintiff claiming repression must present both at summary judgment stage and at trial: (1) objectively verifiable corroborating evidence to corroborate the fact of the abuse and (2) expert testimony to establish the both the abuse and the fact of the repressed memories.

The *Moriarty* Court held that objective verifiability may be satisfied by corroborating evidence such as: (1) an admission by the abuser; (2) a criminal conviction; (3) documented medical history of childhood sexual abuse; (4) contemporaneous records or written statements of the abuser, such as diaries or letters; (5) photographs or recordings of the abuse; (6) an objective eyewitness's account; (7) evidence the abuser had sexually abused others; or (8) proof of a chain of facts and circumstances having sufficient probative force to produce a reasonable and probable conclusion that sexual abuse occurred.⁴⁶ This corroborating evidence is a prerequisite for application of the discovery rule to toll the statute of limitations.

There was no admissible evidence before the Circuit Court supporting the requirement of objectively verifiable evidence that Appellant was sexually abused. There was no evidence that he reported the abuse to anyone. There was no evidence that he went to a doctor or any other health care provider. There was no evidence that either accused teacher was ever convicted, nor was there any evidence that either teacher confessed to abusing Appellant. In fact, the still-living teacher adamantly denies it, and the deceased teacher taught for 30 years in the Summerville schools, apparently without any accusation of any improper sexual conduct with a minor. There were no photographs or eye witnesses. There was no evidence that either teacher has ever been

assumed plaintiff's injury was inherently undiscoverable, but rejected application of discovery rule because she offered no corroborating evidence).

⁴⁶ *Moriarty*, 341 S.C. at 336-7, 534 S.E.2d at 680, *quoting* 334, S.C. at 171, 511 S.E.2d at 710.

accused of molesting any other child. There is a complete absence of contemporaneous circumstantial evidence that Appellant was abused in 1970.

In addition, Appellant failed to present admissible expert testimony to establish the abuse, the fact of the repressed memories, and that those memories were repressed between Appellant's 18th birthday (May 28, 1975) and sometime after August 8, 2015 (three years prior to filing the Complaint). There was no admissible expert testimony before the Circuit Court regarding repressed memory syndrome. There are no neuropsychiatric tests that would confirm Appellant ever experienced actual repression of childhood memories. There was no expert testimony that Appellant's so-called recovered memories are even accurate. There was no expert testimony establishing when Appellant began to repress any memory or when he recovered them, or that he had them at all.

In short, Appellant did not come forward with a shred of admissible evidence that satisfies the heavy burden placed upon him in *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*.⁴⁷ Appellant's inability to satisfy that burden places him in exactly the position that gave both this Court and the Supreme Court such grave concern – i.e. the only evidence of repressed memory is self-reporting by Appellant. There is no objectively verifiable evidence, nor is there admissible expert testimony as the *Moriarty* Court demanded. Failing that, the discovery rule does not – and cannot – apply.

⁴⁷ Importantly, Respondent filed a motion to exclude testimony by Appellant's treating therapists, none of which was in the record before the Circuit Court at the time the Court entered summary judgment in Respondent's favor. The motion challenged the qualifications of the expert witnesses identified by Appellant and argued that their testimony should be excluded as inadmissible under Rule 702 SCRE. See R. pp. 843-848 and R. pp. 1158-1179; R. pp. 1038-1158. Appellant did not file any testimony of the treating therapists in any event.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535, any individual plaintiff whose claim arose prior to 2001 has 3 years from the date of the tort to bring his claim.⁴⁸ The statute of limitations is tolled until a person reaches his or her majority. As the Supreme Court has explained:

According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered. The statute runs from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct. *Johnston v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 61, 437 S.E.2d 45 (1993). We have interpreted the “exercise of reasonable diligence” to mean that the injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury place a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience on notice that a claim against another party might exist. *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 278 S.E.2d 333 (1981). Moreover, the fact that the injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial. *Dillon County School Dist. No. Two v. Lewis Sheet Metal Works, Inc.*, 286 S.C. 207, 332 S.E.2d 555 (Ct. App. 1985), cert. granted, 287 S.C. 234, 337 S.E.2d 697 (1985), cert. dismissed, 288 S.C. 468, 343 S.E.2d 613 (1986).⁴⁹

Statutes of limitation are not mere formalities or technicalities; rather, statutes of limitation “have long been respected as fundamental to a well-ordered judicial system.”⁵⁰

In the present case, Appellant was born in 1957, and he alleges that the sexual abuse occurred during the 1970-71 school year. He reached his majority at in 1975, when he turned 18.⁵¹

⁴⁸ In 2001, § 15-3-555 became effective and extended the statute of limitations for cases involving alleged sexual abuse to 6 years after the victim turned 21 years of age. While statutes of limitation can generally be applied retroactively, a new statute of limitations cannot revive a claim where the prior statute has already run. *Doe v. Crooks*, 354 S.C. 349, 352, 613 S.E.2d 536, 538 (2005). Such a result would violate the defendant’s rights under the Due Process Clause of the South Carolina Constitution. See *Goff v. Mills*, 279 S.C. 382, 385, 308 S.E.2d 778, 780 (S.C. 1983); *U.S. Rubber Co. v. McManus*, 211 S.C. 342, 349-350, 45 S.E.2d 335, 338 (S.C. 1947); *Stoddard v. Owings*, 42 S.C. 88, 91, 20 S.E. 25, 26 (S.C. 1894).

⁴⁹ *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (S.C. 1996).

⁵⁰ *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

⁵¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-1-320 changed the age of majority to 18 effective February 6, 1975, just prior to Appellant’s 18th birthday.

Thus, the statute of limitations ran on Appellant's claims no later than 1978. As discussed above, the discovery rule cannot operate to save those claims from the effect of the statute of limitations. Accordingly, Appellant's claims are long since time-barred, and this serves as an additional basis for this Court to affirm the grant of summary judgment to Respondent.

b. Respondent was further entitled to summary judgment based upon the *res judicata* effect of a 2007 class action settlement.

Respondent additionally moved for summary judgment based upon the 2007 class action settlement and judgment entered in Dorchester County. The Diocese of Charleston entered into a Class Action Settlement of all potential claims that employees or agents of the Diocese sexually abused minors.⁵² The Settlement Agreement addressed the claims of two classes of individuals:

- All individuals born on or before August 30, 1980 who claim to have been sexually abused as minors by the Diocese of Charleston's personnel ("primary class"), and
- those individuals' spouses and parents ("consortium class").

A Fairness Hearing was held before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, on March 9, 2007, and the Court gave final approval to the Settlement Agreement by Orders dated July 30, 2007 and August 31, 2007.⁵³ The Circuit Court determined that the proposed class settlement was fair to both the named class representatives and to the absent class members, and that both the named plaintiffs and class counsel were adequate representatives of the class. The court entered its

⁵² See Settlement Agreement - *John Doe #53, John Doe 66, John Doe 66A, John Doe 67, Jane Doe 1 and Jane Doe 2, and Rachel Roe, Individually and as Representative v. The Diocese of Charleston, A Corporation Sole, and the Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston in His Official Capacity of a Class of People Similarly Situated*, Case Numbers 2006-CP-18-1310, 1311, 1636 (Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas).

⁵³ See Order Certifying Classes and Giving Preliminary Approval to Settlement; July 30, 2007 Order; August 31, 2007 Order.

judgment approving the settlement classes and ordered class counsel to notify the class of the settlement. The classes were “opt-out” classes, that is, if an individual satisfied the criteria of either class, he is automatically a class member, bound to the law of the case and the terms of the Settlement Agreement. An individual must have affirmatively “opted-out” by filing a Notice of Opt Out to preserve his rights to pursue an independent claim. The Court’s Order also specified the manner in which notice of the class settlement and claims procedure was to be provided to the members of the class, including publication in 10 South Carolina newspapers and the *Augusta Chronicle*, as well as the Diocese’s publication the *Catholic Miscellany*.

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